1957

Neal B. Morris et al v. Public Service Commission of Utah et al : Plaintiffs' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal taken pursuant to Section 54-7-16, Utah Code Annotated (1953), and Rule 65 B, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, from an order entered by the Public Service Commission of Utah in Case No. 3106, cancelling Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833 (R. 83), and also an appeal from an order in Case No. 4294 denying the application of Neal R. Morris, doing business as Martian Delivery Service for a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity to operate as a common motor carrier of household goods as defined by Interstate Commerce Commission 17-MCC-467, assuming the operating rights of Robert W. Watson, doing business as Bob Watson Moving, under Certificate No. 833.

For the convenience of the Court, and to avoid confusion, the parties will be designated by name as they appeared in the proceedings before the Public Service Commission.

On June 14, 1956, Neal R. Morris, doing business as Martian Delivery Service, applied to the Public Service Commission of Utah for issuance of a certificate of convenience and necessity to operate as a common motor carrier of property in intrastate commerce in Case No. 4294, and with the approval of the Commission he proposed to assume and perform the same operating authority as evidenced in Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833, issued May 24, 1948, to Robert W. Watson, an individual, doing business as Bob Watson

Moving, which certificate, upon issuance of a new certificate, would be cancelled (R. 1).

Neal R. Morris is an individual whose place of business is in Murray, Utah. He presently holds contract carrier permit No. 422, Subs 1, 2 and 3 (R. 165, 200, 215-216). This permit authorizes operations as a contract motor carrier of property over irregular routes in the Salt Lake City area, bounded on the East by the foothills of Wasatch Mountains, on the North by the city limits of Salt Lake City, on the West by Garfield, Utah, and on the South by Sandy, Utah, and to use motorcycle sidecars, trailers and automobiles of the passenger car size capacity (R. 165-67). The transportation service so rendered is of a fast package type for named accounts, with whom Neal R. Morris holds contracts which have been approved by the Commission.

On May 24, 1948, Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833 was issued to Robert W. Watson, doing business as Bob Watson Moving, after a hearing before the Commission, which authorized operations as a common motor carrier for the transportation of household goods, as defined by Interstate Commerce Commission in 17-MCC-467, and commodities in general, over irregular routes, within the corporate area of Salt Lake City, Fort Douglas, Cudahay Packing, area on South State Street and adjacent thereto as far south as 39th South; also Salt Lake County now not served by regular on route motor carriers (R. 70). Robert W. Watson had been engaged as a common carrier in the Salt Lake

City area for approximately 30 years previously (R. 137). He operated under the certificate continuously until approximately December 3, 1955, at which time he notified the Commission that his health was poor and that he was unable to continue his truck operations at that time. An order of the Commission was requested by him authorizing a suspension of operations until January 1, 1957 (R. 74). The order was granted December 13, 1955 (R. 75). On June 12, 1956, Robert W. Watson and Neal R. Morris entered into a contract whereby Robert W. Watson agreed to sell and assign to Neal R. Morris all rights under Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833, subject, however, to the approval of the Commission (R. 4-6). On August 14, 1956, Robert W. Watson filed his application with the Public Service Commission, for an order authorizing the resumption of transportation service under Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833, and for a further order canceling and rescinding the previous temporary suspension order of the Commission dated December 13, 1955 (R. 78-79). On September 5, 1956, the Commission issued its order rescinding and setting aside its suspension order of December 13, 1955, and reinstated Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833 (R. 80-81). The order recited in part that Robert W. Watson "was authorized to operate over the highways of the State of Utah under the same rights and with the same restrictions and under the same provisions that are set forth in the Commission's order granting Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833, dated May 24, 1948" (R. 80).

The Public Service Commission of Utah issued a notice of hearing in case No. 4294, being the matter of the application of Neal R. Morris for a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity, October 11, 1956, which stated in part as follows:

“This is an application by Neal R. Morris, doing business as Martian Delivery Service, for a certificate of convenience and necessity to operate as a common motor carrier of household goods as defined by Interstate Commerce Commission 17-MCC-467, to assume the operating rights of Robert W. Watson, an individual, doing business as Bob Watson Moving, under Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833, Case No. 3106” (R. 8).

The hearing of the application was once continued, and a notice of the continued hearing was issued by the Commission under date of November 13, 1956, in which the purpose of the hearing as originally stated was reiterated (R. 10). The notice of hearing was duly published in the Salt Lake Tribune, a daily newspaper published in Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 12).

At the hearing held December 3, 1956, Neal R. Morris testified that he had been engaged in the delivery business on a contract basis for approximately three years and had been associated with the delivery business in a general way for several years prior to that (R. 94). He was an experienced motor carrier operator. A schedule of equipment used by him in his delivery business was received in evidence as Exhibit 3 (R. 17). In con-

nection with this equipment, Mr. Morris has purchased and installed two-way radios which greatly facilitate the dispatch of his business (R. 96). Exhibit 2 (R. 16), itemizes the assets of Neal R. Morris as modified by his oral testimony on cross-examination as appears in the Record pages 106 to 110. In any event, his total net assets are shown to be approximately \$5,500.00. Neal R. Morris further testified that he could make necessary financing arrangements to purchase additional equipment if such became necessary to properly discharge the services demanded of him under the operating rights he was petitioning the Commission to grant him (R. 99-100).

Robert W. Watson testified that following the suspension order of the Commission on December 13, 1955, he continued to receive calls for his services although as time passed they decreased in number (R. 138). Following the authorization by the Commission to resume the active operation of Certificate No. 833 on September 5, 1956, such operations were commenced and service rendered to the shipping public (R. 139).

Subsequent to the hearing on the Neal R. Morris application, the Commission on March 11, 1957, in Case No. 4294, entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and determined that an order should be entered denying the application of Neal R. Morris for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity (R. 19-22). In such case it then entered its order denying the application. At the same time, in Case No. 3106, and without

specific findings and conclusions in that case, it entered its order cancelling Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833. No finding of fact was made by the Commission relative to the ability, financial or otherwise, of Neal R. Morris to operate under the authority requested. Thereafter, a petition for rehearing and reconsideration was filed May 29, 1957, on behalf of Neal R. Morris and Robert W. Watson in which they specified errors of the Commission in making its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and in issuing the orders referred to above (R. 25, 27). A reply to the petition for rehearing and reconsideration was filed by the protestants April 19, 1957. On April 23, 1957, an order of the Commission denying the petition for rehearing was issued. Subsequently on May 23, 1957, a petition for Writ of Review was filed with this Court which petition was granted the same day.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH ERRED IN CANCELLING CERTIFICATE OF CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY NO. 833 IN CASE NO. 3106, IN THAT IT PROCEEDED WITHOUT JURISDICTION AND FAILED TO GIVE NOTICE TO PLAINTIFF ROBERT W. WATSON THAT THE ISSUE OF UNQUALIFIED CANCELLATION OF SUCH CERTIFICATE WAS BEFORE THE COMMISSION, ALL OF WHICH DEPRIVED PLAINTIFF ROBERT W. WATSON AND HIS HEIRS OF PROPERTY WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW, CONTRARY TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE

OF UTAH, ARTICLE I, SECTION 7, AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

POINT II

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH ERRED IN FINDING THAT CERTIFICATE OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY NO. 833 WAS "COMPLETELY INACTIVE" AND "DEAD," SUCH FINDING BEING CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE.

POINT III

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT NEAL R. MORRIS WAS QUALIFIED TO ASSUME THE OPERATING RIGHTS UNDER CERTIFICATE OF PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY NO. 833, AND IN FAILING TO ISSUE ITS ORDER CANCELLING THE SAID CERTIFICATE AND ISSUING LIKE AUTHORITY TO NEAL R. MORRIS.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH ERRED IN CANCELLING CERTIFICATE OF CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY NO. 833 IN CASE NO. 3106, IN THAT IT PROCEEDED WITHOUT JURISDICTION AND FAILED TO GIVE NOTICE TO PLAINTIFF ROBERT W. WATSON THAT THE ISSUE OF UNQUALIFIED CANCELLATION OF SUCH CERTIFICATE WAS BEFORE THE COMMISSION, ALL OF WHICH DEPRIVED PLAINTIFF ROBERT W. WATSON AND

HIS HEIRS OF PROPERTY WITHOUT DUE PROCESS OF LAW, CONTRARY TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF UTAH, ARTICLE I, SECTION 7, AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA.

Utah Code Annotated 54-6-5 (1953) sets forth the procedure to be followed by an applicant seeking a certificate of convenience and necessity from the Public Service Commission. The statute states in part as follows:

“. . . The Commission, upon the filing of an application for such certificate, shall fix a time and place for hearing thereon, which shall not be less than 10 days after such filing. The Commission shall cause notice of such hearing to be served at least five days before the hearing upon an officer or owner of every common carrier that is operating, or has applied for a certificate to operate, in the territory proposed to be served by the applicant . . . If the Commission finds from the evidence that the public convenience and necessity require the proposed service or any part thereof *it may issue the certificate as prayed for, or issue it for the partial exercise only of the privilege sought, and may attach to the exercise of the right granted by such certificate such terms and conditions as in its judgment the public convenience and necessity may require, otherwise such certificate shall be denied . . .*” (Italics Supplied).

In the instant case, the application of Neal R. Morris, doing business as Martian Delivery Service, was filed in Case No. 4292, June 14, 1956 (R. 1). Notice of hearing

was prepared by the Public Service Commission of Utah under date of October 11, 1956, and the hearing set on October 26. It stated the purpose of the hearing as follows:

“This is an application by Neal R. Morris, doing business as Martian Delivery Service, for a certificate of convenience and necessity to operate as a common motor carrier of household goods as defined by Interstate Commerce Commission 17-MCC-467, to assume the operating rights of Robert W. Watson, an individual, doing business as Bob Watson Moving, under Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833, Case No. 3106.” (R. 8).

The hearing was subsequently continued to December 3, 1956, and a notice to that effect was also published and the purpose of the hearing was reiterated by the Commission as being identical to the hearing as originally set (R. 10, 12).

The hearing issues were thus defined by the Commission as involving the question of the right to assumption by Neal R. Morris of the operating rights of Robert W. Watson who held Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833. Under the Utah Statutes and applicable decisions of this Court, the only question was whether or not the certificate of Robert W. Watson was to be cancelled and an identical certificate issued to Neal R. Morris, or whether the application of Neal R. Morris was to be denied and Robert W. Watson's certificate left as it was in full force and effect. The position of

plaintiffs is that the application of Neal R. Morris should have been granted, and this is specifically detailed in Point Three. However, there was no issue before the Commission whatsoever as to whether or not there would be a cancellation of the certificate issued to Robert W. Watson in an entirely separate proceeding. This is precisely what the Commission has done, and has recognized the problem itself since it has filed the order of cancellation in Case No. 3106, which is clearly not involved in this proceeding at all.

The proceeding in practical reality in this case involves the transfer of a certificate of convenience and necessity, and this is the sole issue. Because of the fact that as of the date of hearing, Utah statutes do not provide in cases of this type for a transfer of such a certificate, the practice is followed of cancellation of the old certificate and reissuance of like authority to the new applicant. It will be noted, however, that there is involved a cancellation conditioned upon reissuance, and there cannot be any consideration of whether or not the old certificate should be cancelled, in the event the Commission does not contemporaneously issue the new certificate to the applicant. This matter has been reviewed in considerable detail by this Court in the case of *Collett vs. Public Service Commission*, 116 Utah 413, 418, 211 Pac. (2d) 185, 187 (Utah, 1949), in which case the court held that:

“ . . . the principal question in such a problem as this is that of the financial status, fitness,

willingness and ability of the proposed new certificate holder to carry on the business; that so far as the public is concerned, the public convenience and necessity would not be adversely affected by the change in certificate carriers . . .”

It will be noted that there is specifically no issue involved as to the problem of convenience and necessity. We believe there can be no question on this point since the Commission itself in its third finding of fact (R. 42, 43) held that the Commission would not require a new showing of public convenience and necessity under circumstances where a party requests the consent of the Commission to assume the operating rights previously issued to another.

Notwithstanding the very limited aspect of the hearing and the issues before the Commission, by its order in Case No. 4294, which is the assigned number of the hearing on the application itself, the Commission has attempted to issue its order cancelling the existing certificate without qualification. The recognition by the Commission of the inherent difficulty involved, is that it has not only issued an order in Case No. 4294, but it has perceived the obvious necessity of properly issuing an order in Case No. 3106 which is the proceeding under which the certificate was issued in the first place. By its act in so doing, the Commission has clearly recognized the error of its decision, since there was no issue involved in this latter case, and quite obviously no notice which would indicate the possibility that such action was contemplated in this hearing.

We believe it apparent that the real decision of the Commission here was to cancel a certificate upon the thinly veiled theory that it was dormant. This is the subject of discussion in Point Two hereafter. We believe it is significant that the Commission has totally failed to make any finding on the only issue involved in this proceeding which is the ability of the applicant to operate under the franchise as a common motor carrier.

We believe it axiomatic that the order of an administrative body issued without notice to affected individuals is violative of due process. There are numerous cases on such subject, but a brief reference may prove of assistance to the Court.

Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution prohibits the State of Utah from depriving a person of life, liberty or property without due process of law. As will appear, this injunction applies to administrative agencies as well as to established courts. The Public Service Commission of Utah is empowered by statute in Section 54-6-20, Utah Code Annotated (1953) to “. . . at any time for good cause, and *after notice and hearing*, suspend, alter, amend or revoke any certificate, permit or license issued by it . . .” (Italics Supplied). A proceeding which results in the cancellation of a certificate of convenience and necessity without proper notice being previously given as required by this statute contravenes the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and is also contrary to Article

I, Section 7 of the Constitution of the State of Utah. This Court has recognized the necessity of the Public Service Commission adhering to this fundamental right. In the case of *Provo Transfer and Storage Company vs. Public Service Commission*, 3 Utah 2d 86, 278 P. 2d 985, 986 (1955), the court stated as follows:

“The Legislature has seen fit to vest in the Commission the power to ‘supervise and regulate all common motor carriers,’ section 54-6-4, U.C.A. (1953), and armed it with the power ‘for good cause, and *after notice and hearing*, (to) suspend, alter, amend or revoke any certificate ***.’ Section 54-6-20, *supra*.” (Italics supplied.)

Again, in the case of *Denver and Rio Grande Western Railway Company v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 74 Utah 316, 319, 279 Pac. 612, 613 (1929), the court stated without qualification that notice and opportunity to be heard are elementary requirements of due process of law. In that case, an award by the Industrial Commission was remanded to the Commission for further proceedings. After the cause was remanded, the findings of fact were amended to support the award. No notice was given to the railroad company of the commission’s intention to amend the findings, and no opportunity was given the railroad company to offer further evidence or to be further heard. The railroad company on appeal alleged that the commission was without authority to amend its findings and to make an award without first giving it notice and an opportunity to be heard. In agreeing with this contention, the court said:

“We are of the opinion that the railroad company is entitled to prevail in its contention. Notice and opportunity to be heard are elementary requirements of due process of law when the rights of a party are to be affected by judicial proceeding. (Citing cases.) . . . Our Workmen’s Compensation Law, inferentially at least, provides that the commission shall give notice and an opportunity to be heard to all parties whose rights may be affected by its award . . . Indeed, if the legislature should enact a law dispensing with notice and an opportunity to be heard to a party whose rights would be affected by an award of the commission, such law would be a nullity.”

On the basis of this error, the Supreme Court annulled the award of the Commission.

It is to be noted that the court observed that the provision for notice was provided by inference whereas in this case before the Public Service Commission the provision for notice is statutory and specific.

Again, in *Fuller-Toponce Truck Company v. Public Service Commission*, 99 Utah 28, 36, 96 P. 2d 722, 725 (1939), this Court restated its position on this question in quoting the following language:

“‘The essential elements of due process of law are *notice*, and *the opportunity to be heard* and to *defend* in an orderly proceeding adapted to the nature of the case before *a tribunal having jurisdiction* of the cause.’ ” (Italics added by the court.)

The same principle of law is recognized in cases factually similar by the courts of other jurisdictions. In the case of *Bohon v. Department of Public Service*, 6 Wash. 676, 108 P. 2d 663, 666-667 (1940), a very similar issue was before the court. An appeal was taken from a judgment of the Superior Court affirming an order of the Commission cancelling certain rate schedules filed by a group of railroad companies. The departmental order also fixed certain minimum rates to be charged by common carriers of the bulk petroleum products. A Writ of Review was filed by several railroad companies who assigned as error the department's failure to acquire jurisdiction, and therefore, alleged the Commission was without power to fix rates upon the ground that the railroad companies were not given notice that the question of rates was to be considered at the proposed hearing, and asserted further that there was nothing contained in the notice of hearing which would tend to raise any issue other than whether specific rates would be permitted to become effective or would be cancelled. In relation to this problem, the court said:

"The question, then, with which we are presently concerned, is not whether the department has power, generally, to fix minimum rates for the future, but, rather, whether appellants had notice of the intention of the department to exercise that power.

"That the Department of public service is limited to the hearing and determination of those issues only which are raised by the pleadings is well settled in this jurisdiction. . . . (Citing cases.)

“The purpose of the rule just stated, is, of course, to insure to the carriers or utilities affected full opportunity to be heard upon any matter before any ruling is made.”

The court then found that the order as published was sufficiently comprehensive to include the issue of minimum rates, and was adequate to inform the railroad companies that the question of minimum rates was to be presented and adjudicated at the hearing. See also *North Pacific Public Service Company v. Kuykendall*, 127 Wash. 73, 219 Pac. 834 (1923) to the same effect.

In the case of *State ex rel. Northern Pacific Railway Company v. Railroad Commission of Washington*, 52 Wash. 440, 100 Pac. 987, 988 (1909), this point was again considered. An appeal was taken from an order of the Superior Court adjudging as void an order of the commission establishing a terminal rate on hay, oats, barley and mill feed from points on the line of the Northern Pacific Railway. A complaint was filed by the Railroad Commission against certain railway companies, charging that certain rates were unreasonable and excessive. Evidence was taken by the commission, and final findings of fact were made, and an order followed fixing certain joint rates on wheat and potatoes between certain points in the state, and ordered certain track concessions to be made and fixed the rate on hay, oats, barley and mill feed, shipped over the respondent's railroad line to certain points within the state. The Northern Pacific Railroad obtained a Writ of Review to the Superior Court for the purpose of reviewing the finding and

order of the Railroad Commission relating to the rate on hay, oats, barley and mill feed. The Superior Court found that the order was void and this appeal was taken from that part of the order by the Railroad Commission. In affirming the Superior Court's order, finding the portion referred to as void, the Court stated in part as follows:

"We find nothing in the complaint which indicates that there was anything in the complaint about the rates on hay, oats, barley and mill feed, or that there would be any hearing or any investigation on the rate on these commodities between points in eastern Washington and points in western Washington branch lines of the Northern Pacific Railway Company As we have seen above, no complaint was made against the existing rates on hay, oats, barley, and mill feed to Gray's Harbor points, and no hearing was or could have been had thereon, and the commission was not authorized to make an order therein changing such rates."

In the instant case, what the Commission has attempted to do is to utilize the evidence in the hearing properly before it, in an entirely separate proceeding in which its order of cancellation was entered in Case No. 3106. This practice, which can lead to far-reaching and disastrous results in orderly utility regulation, has been specifically condemned by this Court. In *Los Angeles and Salt Lake Railroad Co. v. Public Service Commission*, 81 Utah 286, 297, 17 P. 2d 287, 291 (1932) the court stated, quoting in part from a decision of another court:

“The commissioners cannot act on their own information. Their findings must be based on evidence presented in the case, with an opportunity to all parties to know of the evidence to be submitted or considered, to cross-examine witnesses, to inspect documents and to offer evidence in explanation or rebuttal, and nothing can be treated as evidence which is not introduced as such.”

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