1957

Neal B. Morris et al v. Public Service Commission of Utah et al : Defendants' Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE IS COMPETENT AND SUFFICIENT MATERIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUPPORT THE FINDINGS AND ORDER OF THE COMMISSION.

POINT II

THE ABANDONMENT OF OPERATIONS BY MR. WATSON SUBJECTED HIS AUTHORITY TO CANCELLATION AND THE COMMISSION HAD JURISDICTION TO CANCEL SUCH.

The Public Service Commission is vested with numerous responsibilities and powers and must exercise such in the public good. Neither it nor the Legislature have permitted the sale or transfer of

motor carrier operating rights. The issue of public convenience and necessity is paramount when the so-called "transfer" cases come before the Commission.

Through the procedure of cancelling the old authority and issuing a new certificate to the new operator, the Commission has effectively sanctioned transfers of operating authority. It has not been required that new proof of public convenience and necessity be adduced where the vendor was *actively* engaged in the transporting of commodities for hire in Utah. The fact of such active operations has been deemed by the Commission in the past as good and sufficient proof of a need for a continuation of the same service by the vendee.

In the present case, no such active operational status existed. The transcript shows that prior to December of 1955 he stopped operations and on December 3rd applied to the Commission for suspension of operations. He continued inactive, sold his truck, cancelled his insurance and performed no service until Mr. Morris induced him to sign a contract for the sale of the rights for \$200.00. Then he was induced, by Mr. Morris's offer of purchase, to apply for resumption of service. This was in August of 1956.

At pages 142-143 of the record, Mr. Watson admitted that the only reason for requesting restor-

ation of his rights was to enable him to peddle them to Mr. Morris and that he, Mr. Watson, had no intention whatsoever of personally operating or serving the public. And if this application is not granted, he will not operate as a carrier, but will try to sell to someone else.

Based upon this and other evidence in the record it was found that the said Watson rights were "inactive" and "dead". Can anyone dispute that there was adequate, competent evidence in the record to support such a finding? The volume of evidence is not material on this point in an appeal. However, the testimony given by Mr. Watson himself was plain and adequate to sustain the said findings of the Commission.

On earlier proceedings of this nature your court has announced the rule to be that if there is *any* evidence to support the findings by the Commission, then your court will not interject itself to weigh and analyze that evidence, nor substitute its judgment for that of the Commission which has *seen* and *heard* the witnesses.

Two pertinent cases dealing with the scope of review are: *Los Angeles & Salt Lake R. Co. v. Public Service Commission*, 121 Utah 209, 240 Pac (2d) 493 and *Ashworth Transfer Company v. Public Service Commission*, 2 Utah (2d) 23, 268 Pac (2d) 990. In the first case your court said that the

power of review is limited to whether the Commission could reasonably find as it did from the evidence adduced. The decision then cited the statute, now 54-7-16, U.C.A. 1953 which states: "The findings and conclusions of the Commission on questions of fact shall be final and not subject to review."

In the Ashworth case your court stated:

"On review of an order of the Public Service Commission of Utah granting a certificate of convenience and necessity, it is not required that facts found by the Commission be conclusively established or shown by a preponderance of the evidence. The scope of review is limited to an ascertainment of whether the Commission had before it competent evidence upon which to base its decision. U.C.A. 1953, 54-7-16; *Wycoff Co., Inc. v. Public Service Commission, Utah*, 227 P. 2d 323; *Uintah Freight Lines v. Public Service Commission, Utah*, 229 P. 2d 675."

The plaintiffs cannot complain as to the competency of the evidence on the question of dormancy of Watson's rights because they were the witnesses from whom the evidence came. Granted, that some statements were also made indicating a half-hearted effort to operate after the Morris contract of purchase was made. However, the Commissioners after seeing the witnesses and hearing them chose to believe and find that:

"The evidence in this case discloses that the certificate of Watson was completely in-

active for several months. There is no evidence that the public suffered from any lack of carrier service during this period. The evidence clearly shows that the sole purpose of reactivating the Watson certificate was for the purpose of selling said certificate. In his application for reinstatement of Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833 filed with the Commission on August 14, 1956, Watson alleged that "As of the date hereof, however, your petitioner has available trucks, motorcycles and other equipment, together with trained personnel to properly and adequately conduct all operations authorized under said Certificate of Convenience and Necessity, is financially able to do so, and therefore requests the Commission that its Order of December 13, 1955, be set aside and annulled." It is clear from the evidence that Watson never intended to personally operate his certificate of convenience and necessity and that the arrangement for equipment and financing as above set forth was with Morris as the prospective purchaser of Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 833.

"4. We are of the view that the rules of this Commission as above set forth with respect to the transferring of an authorized operation of a retiring carrier to a new carrier are proper, reasonable and legal. We do not believe, however, that the laws of the State of Utah contemplate that an inactive certificate and a service once dead should be resurrected merely for the purpose of selling the certificate. Such procedure, if approved by this Commission, would in our opinion be entirely repugnant to the provisions of the Motor Carrier Act." (R. 22)

POINT III

APPLICANTS BOTH KNEW THAT IN THESE "TRANSFER" MATTERS THE COMMISSION MUST NECESSARILY CANCEL THE OLD AUTHORITY AS A CONDITION PRECEDENT TO ANY POSSIBLE ISSUE OF A NEW CERTIFICATE, SO THEIR ATTENDANCE AT AND PARTICIPATION IN THE PROCEEDINGS WAIVED ANY NEED FOR A SPECIAL NOTICE THAT THE OLD RIGHTS MIGHT BE CANCELLED.

The application as presented (R. 1) was clearly a request that Morris "assume the operating rights" of Watson or as stated in the body, "perform the same operating authority" as evidenced by the Watson certificate. The notice of hearing set out similar phrases and both Mr. Morris and Mr. Watson were present at the hearing. Both were represented by competent legal counsel.

Each party to the matter was an experienced motor carrier, presumably aware of the statutes relating to "transfers" of rights. It is common knowledge that the "transfer" involves a cancellation of the vendor's rights and a request for a new certificate in the name of the vendee.

The Rules of Practice and Procedure published by the Commission Sept. 6, 1939, Section 21.3 provides:

"Section 21.3 TRANSFER OF OPERATING RIGHTS: The Commission will not permit the transfer or assignment of operating rights granted by it. Any bona fide purchaser of an option on the operating rights of

any person under the jurisdiction of the Commission may make application to the Commission for a grant of such rights. The granting of such rights will be discretionary with the Commission.”

In the face of this, the parties applied to the Commission and submitted their positions to its jurisdiction for action. Perhaps the calculated risk of having the Watson rights cancelled out was well known as the consideration for the rights was only \$200.00. Had the operating authority been active and had Mr. Watson preserved his rights, the same would have had a much greater value.

No separate proceeding is requisite to due process of law when the only two affected parties to the contract, Watson and Morris are personally before the Commission and represented by counsel. We are at a loss to know what different testimony would have been given by Mr. Watson had a different type notice been sent to him. He and counsel well knew that the first issue was the cancellation of his authority. They both knew of the dormancy thereof.

In the *Provo Transfer & Storage Co. v. Public Service Commission* case, 3 Utah (2d) 86, 287 Pac. (2d) 985 your court confirmed the right of the Commission to cancel and revoke a carriers operating authority in connection with a proposed transfer through an acquisition of stock. This decision reads in part:

"Petitioner argues that Sec. 54-6-20 should be construed as a narrow grant of discretionary power to the Commission as otherwise "no security of operation could be had by any motor carrier, and each would be subject to the whim of the succeeding members of the Public Service Commission." It is further asserted that "an administrative body such as the Public Service Commission cannot be a law unto itself in all things and arbitrarily take from the carrier its certificate, as a public utility has a substantial interest in the operation and should not without due process of law be deprived of its valuable property right without just and substantial cause being shown." Complaint is made that no standards were established by the Legislature as a guide to the Commission in the revocation or suspension of operating authority and it is asserted that the remedy in this case should be the initiation of the criminal proceeding contemplated by 54-6-18, U.C.A., 1953. No precedent is submitted in support of this argument.

"We do not sit in these certiorari proceedings to determine whether the action taken by the Commission is exactly to our liking. Suffice it to say that it appears that the Legislature has vested in this administrative tribunal plenary powers to revoke and suspend certificates of convenience, for good cause, and where it appears, as in the present case, that one motor carrier, in violation of the statute, purchased stock in another motor carrier and then proceeded to take over and operate the freight department of the corporation bought into without the consent of the Commission, we are not prepared to hold

that good cause for the revocation of the carrier's certificate has not been shown."

Upon that precedent alone, it is fair to assume that the Court will affirm the decision of the Commission in the instant case. Due process of law has been met by the personal appearances of Mr. Watson and Mr. Morris, their free and unhampered testimony and their representation by counsel before the Commission.

POINT IV

THE ORDER DENYING THE PROPOSED TRANSFER OF OPERATING RIGHTS IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT AND ADEQUATE EVIDENCE.

The need for findings on the financial ability, experience and fitness of applicant, Morris, presupposes an absolute right of transfer of the operating rights from Watson to Morris. No findings as to fitness were required as the Commission found that it was not in the public interest to continue the dormant operations.

It is entirely consistent for the Commission to block this transaction as it has long taken a position that the best interests of the public are the first consideration. Trafficking in certificates has never been approved by it. The bargain between these two parties was squarely in the face of the Commission's rule quoted above which states that the Commission will not permit a transfer.

How has Mr. Morris been prejudiced by the absence of a specific finding as to his fitness to operate? Had he been the largest and most affluent carrier in the United States, still in this instance no prejudice would result on the failure of the commission to recite his fitness. If no rights were to be issued to him (because of the dormancy and inactivity of the vendor) no further findings were material.

Defendants submit that the Report and Order of the Commission should be sustained by the Court.

Respectfully submitted,

E. R. CALLISTER, JR.
Attorney General of Utah
For Defendants,
Public Service Commission of Utah
Hal S. Bennett, Donald Hacking and
Jesse R. S. Budge, Its Commissioners

HARRY D. PUGSLEY, of
PUGSLEY, HAYES & RAMPTON
Attorney for Defendants,
Hadley Transfer & Storage Company
Mollerup Moving & Storage Company
Overland Moving Company
Sugarhouse Van Lines